
City of Philadelphia 
Procurement Department 

 
Addendum No. 1     Dated: April 22, 2009 
Concession Bid # C-102-09  
Bid Opening Date: May 8, 2009 

 
NOTICE 

______________________________________________________ 
 

It is the sole responsibility of the bidder to ensure it has received 
any and all addenda and the Procurement Commissioner may 
in his/her sole discretion reject any bid for which all addenda 
have not been executed and returned. 
 

PROPOSAL FOR  
 

Concession Bid for Food Vending Operations in the Fairmount 
Park System 

 
BID # C-102-09 

 
IS AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
    1.  Replace existing Attachment 10, Dairy Field Map, with the attached Colony Castle 

Parking Lot Map  
 

Please sign, date and return this addendum with your bid as it now becomes a part of 
the proposal. 
 
Company Name (type or print):_____________________________________________ 
 
 
Authorized Signature:_______________________________Title___________________ 
 
 
Name (type or print):_____________________________________Date_____________ 
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Attachment 10
Colony Castle Parking Lot Map
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Areas where vendors are permitted to set up
Fairmount Park .



City of Philadelphia 
Procurement Department 

 
 

Addendum No. 2     Dated: May 4, 2009 
Concession Bid # C-102-09  
Bid Opening Date: May 8, 2009 

 
 

NOTICE 
______________________________________________________ 

 
It is the sole responsibility of the bidder to ensure it has 
received any and all addenda and the Procurement 
Commissioner may in his/her sole discretion reject any bid for 
which all addenda have not been executed and returned. 
 

PROPOSAL FOR  
 

Concession Bid For Food Vending Operations In The 
Fairmount Park System 

 
BID # C-102-09 

 
IS AMENDED AS FOLLOWS 

 
1) Replace the first sentence on paragraph 1.2.1, with the following sentence: 

 
“Benjamin Franklin Parkway (the “Parkway”): Two (2) Vending Carts 
between Logan Square and the Philadelphia Museum of Art. 
 
 

2)       On April 30, 2009, the Fairmount Park Commission, City of Philadelphia, 
conducted a Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting pursuant to Bid # C-102-09.  The purpose of 
this addendum is to also incorporate the questions and answers from the Mandatory 
Pre-Bid Meeting: 
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Questions and Answers  
 

1) Do Bidders need to have at least two (2) years prior experience in food vending 
operations in a Mobile Vending Unit or two (2) years prior experience in any type 
of food vending operation? 

 
Answer: Each Concessionaire must have at least two (2) years prior experience in 
food vending operations. Experience in food vending operations that may include 
experience operating a Concession Stand will suffice.  

 
2) With regard to Special Events at the Vending Locations, how will we know which 

events we can participate in? 
 

Answer: The intent is to give the Concessionaire of a Vending Location the 
opportunity to participate in food vending operations for a Special Event at their 
Vending Location. Participation at a Special Event will require coordination with 
Fairmount Park and the Event Sponsor. Fairmount Park can not however 
guarantee that the Event Sponsor will permit the Concessionaire to provide food 
vending operations at their Special Event.  
 
Concessionaires may also, at the request of Fairmount Park, be asked to provide 
food vending operations at specified locations that are outside of the Vending 
Locations described in the Concession Bid. Please refer to the description 
immediately below for further information: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.4 Special Events Vending 
At the request of the Fairmount Park Special Events Office (“Special 
Events Office”), Concessionaires may have the opportunity from time 
to time to provide vending services at special events occurring in 
specified areas in the Fairmount Park System (“Special Events 
Vending”). Special Events Vending opportunities are not guaranteed, 
however, the Special Events Office shall give Concessionaires the first 
right of refusal, on a rotating basis, the option to vend at certain special 
events for an additional fee (“Special Events Fee”) that will be set by 
the Special Events Office. The Special Events Fee shall be based on the 
size and location of the Special Event, but shall not exceed $500 per 
special event. Special Events Vending will be permitted only at events 
deemed appropriate in the sole discretion of the Special Events Office. 

3) When is a Mobile Vending Unit subject to relocation? 
 

Answer: A Mobile Vending Unit may be subject to relocation during a special 
event or unforeseen circumstance occurring at the respective Vending Location. 
Please refer to the description immediately below for further information: 
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3.4 Temporary Relocation and Suspension of Operations 
 
The City reserves the right to temporarily relocate or suspend 
operations of any Concessionaire for any reason, including but not 
limited to certain special and/or unforeseen events. 

4) What about the issue regarding Police removing us from the Vending Location? 
 

Answer: Fairmount Park will make every attempt to notify Concessionaires in 
advance of any special event or unforeseen circumstance that may require the 
relocation or suspension of their food vending operation.  

 
5) Do the Concessionaires have to sell all the items from the menu item list provided 

in the Concession Bid? 
 

Answer: The Concessionaires do not have to sell all the items listed in the 
Concession Bid. The Concessionaires can select items to sell from the menu item 
list or propose other items to sell from their Mobile Vending Unit. Please refer to 
the description immediately below for further information: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.16.2 The following menu is a complete list of items that may be sold 
at Vending Locations and the highest prices that may be charged for 
these items. Under no circumstances may prices exceed these 
maximum prices for the items listed below. If the Concessionaire 
wishes to sell a different product or brand other than those listed below, 
the Concessionaire must receive prior approval from the 
Commissioner. 

6) How did Fairmount Park come up with the list of brands and items? 
 

Answer: Fairmount Park conducted a best practices assessment and used New 
York City’s list of approved brands and items for food vending operations in the 
Park. The Concessionaire may propose other brands or items to sell contingent on 
approval from Fairmount Park.  
 

 
7) Can the Concession Agreements be renewed after October 31, 2009? 
 

Answer: Fairmount Park reserves the right to either renew existing Concession 
Agreements with the current Concessionaires or reissue new bids to acquire the 
services of new Concessionaires to operating a Vending Location. Please refer to 
the description immediately below for further information: 
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In the case that a Concession Agreement is not renewed, the Concessionaire is 
required to vacate the Vending Location by the last day of the Term of the 
Concession Agreement, which for this Term is October 31, 2009. Please refer to 
the description immediately below for further information: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.6 Term 
 
The initial contract term (“Initial Term”) will commence on June 1, 
2009 (the “Commencement Date”). The Initial Term will expire on 
October 31, 2009. The City may, at its sole discretion, renew the 
Concession Agreement for up to three (3) one (1) year periods (each 
option a “Renewal Term”). Under no circumstances shall any food 
vending operations awarded through this Bid Specification and any 
Concession Agreement continue past October 31, 2012. 
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14. Surrender of Vending Location. 
 
Concessionaire shall on the last day of the Term or upon any earlier 
termination of this Agreement, immediately cease business operations
and vacate the Vending Location without delay. No further notice to 
vacate the Vending Premises shall be required.
n the case that there is a duplicate bid regarding the amount of the Concession 
ee, what are the steps to determining which Bidder should be awarded the 
oncession Agreement? 

nswer: In the case that there is a duplicate bid regarding the amount of the 
oncession Fee, the City will evaluate each of the Bidders’ food vending 
perating experience and financial capacity to administer quality food vending 
nd customer service and efficient and well maintained food vending operations.  

ow do we verify if a business we are contracting with for services is a minority 
wned business? 

nswer:  Bidders should contact the Office of Equal Opportunity (215-686-6232 
r http://mbec.phila.gov/home/) to determine if a business is an approved minority 
wned business by the City of Philadelphia. 

 
re there size limitations for the Mobile Vending Units? 

nswer: There are no size limitations for the Mobile Vending Units. Please note 
owever that the Mobile Vending Units should either be vending truck or vending 
art and that the Concessionaires must take into account the safety and well being 
f Park patrons when operating their food vending services. 
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11) Are Concessionaires permitted to play music to draw attention to their respective 

food vending operation? 
 

Answer: The Concessionaires are permitted to play music so long as it is not 
intrusive and/or offensive to Park patrons. Please note that the Vending Locations 
are highly visible. 

 
12) Are the food vending operations intended to provide walk-up service and/or 

seating? 
 

Answer: The food vending operations must only provide walk-up services.  
 

13) Should Concessionaires provide trash cans? 
 

Answer: The Concessionaires are required to provide trash cans in the immediate 
vicinity of a Mobile Vending Units. It is the responsibility of the Concessionaire 
to responsibly and appropriately dispose of the material in their respective trash 
cans. Please refer to the description immediately below for further information: 
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3.13 Trash Collection; Recycling 
 
The Concessionaires shall keep vending areas free of litter and trash 
caused by its vending operation and shall be responsible for the 
collection of its own trash and debris. Fairmount Park is a leader in 
environmental sustainability. We therefore require that each 
Concessionaire provide proper recycling of trash, including, but not 
limited to providing separate trash containers for recyclable materials,
and utilize recyclable food service items including 
cutlery, plates and cups.
re the Concessionaires required to consult with Fairmount Park regarding the 
esign of their Mobile Vending Unit? 

nswer: Fairmount Park recommends that all Concessionaires utilize standard 
ndustry equipment for their respective Mobile Vending Units. If the 
oncessionaire wishes to design its own Mobile Vending Unit, Fairmount Park 

equests that it be consulted prior to the design and construction of the Mobile 
ending Unit. Please note that the Mobile Vending Unit should be designed with 

tainless steel.  
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15) Which Vending Locations permit the use of Vending Carts for the operation of 
food vending services? 

 
Answer: The Concession Bid provides a list of Vending Location and the types of 
Mobile Vending Unit that are permitted in each Vending Location. Please See 
Section 1.2 of the Concession Bid # C-102 for a list of each Vending Location 
and the Mobile Vending Unit that is permitted at each site.  

 
16) Are the Concessionaires permitted to subcontract the food vending operations? 
 

Answer: The Concessionaires are permitted to subcontract the food vending 
operations, subject to the approval of the City of Philadelphia. Please refer to the 
description immediately below for further information: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(B) Subcontracting 
 
(1) Concessionaire shall not delegate or enter into any subcontracts for 
the performance of its obligations under the Agreement, in whole or in 
part, without on each occasion obtaining the prior written consent of 
the City. Concessionaire shall submit to the City, copies of all proposed 
subcontract(s) to be entered into by Concessionaire, along with 
Concessionaire’s written request for the City’s consent. All such 
subcontracts must specify that the City is designated as a third party 
beneficiary of the subcontract and services provided by the 
subcontractor shall be in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
The subcontract(s) must also specify that the subcontractor shall be 
bound by the same requirements as Concessionaire under this 
Agreement including, without limitation, indemnification of City, 
insurance, maintenance and preservation of records and audit by City. 
 
(2) The City’s consent to or approval of any subcontract shall not 
create any obligation of the City to any subcontractor and there is no 
agency between City and subcontractor(s). 
 
(3) No permitted subcontract(s) shall relieve Concessionaire of any 
obligation under this Agreement. Concessionaire shall be as fully 
responsible for the acts and omissions of its subcontractors or persons 
either directly or indirectly employed by them, as it is for the acts and 
omissions of Concessionaire or persons directly or indirectly employed 
by Concessionaire. 
 
(4) Any purported subcontract(s) in violation of this Section or of any 
other Section in this Agreement shall be of no force and effect. 
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17) How many Mobile Vending Units are required for the Benjamin Franklin 
Parkway Vending Location? 

 
Answer: The Concession Bid requires two (2) Vending Carts between Logan 
Square and the Philadelphia Museum of Art to be operated by one (1) 
Concessionaire. The remaining Vending Locations are only permitted to have one 
(1) Mobile Vending Unit. Please refer to the description immediately below for 
further information: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.2 Locations 
 
The City is requesting bids from all individuals and firms that would 
like to provide food vending operations in a Mobile Vending Unit in 
the areas of the Fairmount Park system that are described below 
(collectively referred to in this Bid Specification as the “Vending 
Locations”). Each Vending Location will be individually awarded to 
one (1) Concessionaire and, with the exception of the Benjamin 
Franklin Parkway, Concessionaires may deploy only one (1) Mobile 
Vending Unit in each location. 

18) Will a protocol be established for addressing illegal vending in Fairmount Park? 
 

Answer: Fairmount Park will institute a protocol for addressing illegal vending in 
Fairmount Park. The protocol will be a written policy that will be circulated to 
Park Rangers, the Police Department, City Council Members and Licenses & 
Inspection. Fairmount Park will take the necessary remedies to terminate an 
illegal vending operation, which may include the confiscation of an illegal 
vending vehicle and/or the issuing of fines. 

 
19) What are the revenue generation goals for Fairmount Park? 
 

Answer: Fairmount Park does not expect this program to generate substantial 
revenue to start. The main goal of this effort is to provide a service to Park users 
and to determine if there is potential for food vending services to be located 
throughout in the Fairmount Park System.  

 
20) What is the basis of award for determining who the successful Bidder is? 
 

Answer: To determine which bidder shall be awarded the Concession Agreement, 
the City will first determine which Bidder submitted the highest bid for a Vending 
Location and then evaluate that Bidder’s experience and financial capacity. If the 
Bidder meets the qualifications for operating a food vending service at the 
respective Vending Location the Bidder will be awarded the Concession 
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Agreement. If, however, the Bidder does not meet the necessary qualifications 
then the Bidder with the next highest bid will be evaluated, and so on and so forth.  

 
21) Can bids be submitted online? 
 

Answer: No, bids must be sealed and received at the Municipal Services Building, 
1401 JFK Blvd, Room 170A, on or before Friday, May 8, 2009 at 10:30 AM.  

 
22) What are the Hours of Operation for the Vending Locations? 
 

Answer: Section 102 of the Park’s Regulations state that a 1:00 AM curfew 
prevails throughout the Park, EXCEPT that a 6:00 PM curfew in Franklin Delano 
Roosevelt Park has been established, to remain in effect indefinitely, which will 
automatically revert to 9:00 PM on April 1st of each year and return to 6:00 PM 
on November 1st of each year. Additionally, a curfew has been established for 
8:00 PM each year at the Pennypack on the Delaware and the Rhawn Street/Little 
City area. Please note that it is recommended that the Concessionaires operate 
their Mobile Vending Units during appropriate hours, taking into account 
activities levels and safety at their respective Vending Location.  

 
23) How and when will the winning bidders be notified? 
 

Answer: Winning bidders will be contacted via phone and e-mail. Goal is to have 
a contract in place by June 1st, 2009.  

 
24) Can bidders attend the opening of the bids? 
 

Answer: Bidders are permitted to attending the opening of the bids.  
 

25) What type of information regarding the winning bidders will be disclosed? 
 

Answer: Any information relating to the bid of a winning bidder can be publicly 
disclosed.  

 
26) If you bid on more than one location, is it a must that all locations be accepted if 

granted?  Example: bids placed for four locations with a goal of obtaining at least 
two of the locations that you are interested in. 

 
Answer: Each Bidder who submits a bid, whether it is for one (1) or more 
Vending Locations, must demonstrate the experience, financial capacity and 
operational capability to handle food vending operations at one (1) or more 
Vending Locations. If a bidder is awarded multiple Concession Agreements and 
can not demonstrate the ability to operate food vending services at all of the 
Vending Location then the winning Bidder will forfeit the opportunity to provide 
food vending services at any Vending Location.  
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27) If bids are not placed for all of the locations, will bidding for those locations open 
up again or do they just go unoccupied? 

 
Answer: The City of Philadelphia reserves the right to reissue bids for any 
Vending Location that does not receive a bid on or before Friday, May 8, 2009 
at 10:30 AM. Please refer to the description immediately below for further 
information: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.1 Reservation of Rights. 
 
The City reserves the right to, and may, in its sole discretion, exercise 
the following rights and options with respect to the bid submission, 
evaluation and selection process under this Bid Specification at any 
time prior to execution of a Concession Agreement for each Vending 
Location: 
 
2.1.1 To reject any bid if, in the City’s sole discretion, the bid is 
incomplete, the bid is not responsive to the requirements of this Bid 
Specification, the Bidder does not meet the qualifications set forth in 
this Bid Specification, or it is otherwise in the City’s best interest to do 
so; 
 
2.1.2 To reject all bids, or to postpone, cancel and reissue this Bid 
Specification or not reissue this Bid Specification if, in the City’s sole 
judgment, it is in the City’s best interest to do so; 

28) With regard to the insurance requirements, would a Bidder be satisfying the 
umbrella policy of $5 million even if the Bidder does not meet certain insurance 
requirements specified in the Concession Bid? 

 
Answer: The Concessionaire must obtain an umbrella liability of $5,000,000 and 
the umbrella liability should include, if necessary, the insurance requirements for 
worker’s compensation, employer’s liability, general liability and automobile 
liability.  
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ADDENDUM NO. 2 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT 
MAY 4, 2009 
 
CITY OF PHILADELPHIA 
FAIRMOUNT PARK  
 
CONCESSION BID FOR FOOD VENDING OPERATIONS IN THE 
FAIRMOUNT PARK SYSTEM 
BID NO. C-102-09 
 
The attached Addendum Acknowledgement contains a clear listing of contents of the 
addendum for total number of pages. I have carefully read the addendum and verified the 
presence of all attached documents and number of pages in each document. I certify that I 
have received all pages listed in Addendum Number 2 for the Concession Bid for Food 
Vending Operations in the Fairmount Park System. 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Name of Company  
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Address 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Telephone/Fax 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
Signature/Title 
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